DEC 29 2015

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON BY

# No. 336158

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

# HARLAN D. DOUGLASS and MAXINE H. DOUGLASS Plaintiffs-Appellants

v.

# SHAMROCK PAVING, INC., A WASHINTON CORPORATION Defendant-Respondent

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable John O. Cooney, Judge

## APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Joseph P. Delay, WSBA No. 2044 601 West Main Avenue, Suite 1212 Spokane, WA 99201-0684 (509) 455-9500 marigail@dctpw.com

Steven J. Hassing, WSBA No. 6690 425 Calabria Court Roseville, CA 95747 (916) 677-1776 sjh@hassinglaw.com

## INTRODUCTION

This appeal requires de novo interpretation of RCW 70.105D.080 and 70.105D.020(33) of the Model Toxics Control Act, ("MTCA")<sup>1</sup>. The main issue on this appeal is whether the trial court erred in concluding that Appellants failed to establish that they conducted a "remedial action". If they did, they were entitled to judgment, including attorney fees and costs, for the release of hazardous substances onto their property. The trial court's decision that Appellants failed to conduct a "remedial action" was based on an impermissibly narrow interpretation of "remedial action" with the trial court seemingly failing to even give consideration to the second part of the definition.

Plaintiffs/Appellants, Harlan and Maxine Douglass, ("Douglass") <sup>2</sup>, are longtime Spokane real estate developers who own a parcel of undeveloped land located at 4800 West Nine Mile Road in Spokane County, ("The Property" or "Douglass' Property). Defendant/Respondent, Shamrock Paving, Inc., ("Shamrock"), is a paving contractor found to have released hazardous substances onto Douglass' Property during an 89 day trespass in the summer of 2013. Douglass incurred costs of \$950.00

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RCW 70.105D.080 and 70.105D.020(33) are attached as Appendix Exhibits 3 & 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For ease of drafting, Harlan and Maxine Douglass are hereinafter referred to simply as "Douglass" which will be used in the singular.

in investigating the release and \$12,236.99 in cleaning it up. RCW 70.105D.080 allowed Douglass to bring a private right of action to recover those costs and his attorney fees.

The trial court found Shamrock liable under section 70.105D.040 of the MTCA for releasing hazardous substances onto Douglass' Property <sup>3</sup>. Notwithstanding that Shamrock was found liable for the release of hazardous substances, the court denied Douglass compensation for the costs he incurred in investigating and remediating Shamrock's contamination. The denial was based on the trial court's determination that while the concentrations of heavy oil equaled the guideline threshold for cleanup---2,000 mg/kg---the concentrations failed to exceed it.

The principal issue on review is whether Douglass's investigation and/or his cleanup qualified as a "remedial action". The trial court determined that Douglass's efforts fell short of a remedial action seemingly overlooked the fact that Douglass' investigation alone qualified as a "remedial action" under a second prong of the definition of "remedial action".

In this brief, Douglass first explains that lube oil in the soil in concentrations of 2,000 mg/kg constitutes at least a *potential* threat to the environment. Douglass further points out that even if this reviewing Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RCW 70.105D.040 is attached as Appendix Exhibit 2

does not agree that there existed at least a potential threat, the investigation of the release of the hazardous substance alone satisfied the statutory definition of a "remedial action". Through this brief, Douglass makes clear that the trial court should have rendered judgment for him on his MTCA claim.

This reviewing Court is asked to reverse the trial court's judgment on the basis that the findings, when appropriately applied to the definition of a remedial action, required judgment in favor of Douglass. This Court is asked also to instruct the trial court to render judgment for Douglass for the cost of the investigation, \$950.00, and for the cost of the cleanup, \$12,226.99 and to award Douglass his fees and costs incurred during the litigation. Finally, this Court is asked to award Douglass his attorney fees and costs on appeal in accordance with R.A.P 18 (a) & (b).

#### II.

# ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR & LEGAL ISSUES

## Assignments of Error

1. The Trial Court erred in entering finding of fact number 16 set forth below;

Based upon the pre-cleanup testing levels, the lube oil, diesel, or gasoline did not create a threat or potential threat to human health or environment. (CP 730).

2. The Trial Court erred in finding that<sup>4</sup>;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This Finding of Fact was listed as a Conclusion of Law

Phil Leinart, a hydro geologist with the Department of Ecology, opined that the subject property was not a site that implicated MTCA cleanup as conditions did not pose a threat to human health or the environment. (CP 733).

3. The Trial Court erred in refusing to include Douglass's requested conclusion number 3 which proposed;

Plaintiff's cleanup effort was a "remedial action" (CP 636).

4. The Trial Court erred in concluding as a matter of law that;

Plaintiffs, therefore, cannot prevail on a claim for a private action under MTCA because they did not make a threshold showing that the release of unknown amounts of hazardous substances (diesel, lube oil, and gasoline) was a threat to human health, or the environment that necessitated remedial action. Rather, the amount of hazardous substances found on the property did not exceed the reasonable maximum exposure limits of WAC 173-340-740(1)(a). (CP 734).

- 5. The Trial Court erred as a matter of law in concluding that Douglass could not prevail on his MTCA claim because the level of contamination did not exceed 2,000 mg/kg. (CP 730, 731).
- 6. The Court erred in concluding as a matter of law that;

Plaintiffs failed to prove that the hazardous substance, which was released onto the subject property, was a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment, Defendant is entitled to reasonable attorney's fees under RCW 70.105D.080 (CP 734).

- 7. The Court erred in failing to consider that by hiring an environmentalist to investigate and monitor Shamrock's release of a hazardous substance, Douglass determined the risk or potential risk to human health and those actions alone constituted a "remedial action" under the statutory definition.
- 8. The Court erred in entering Judgment for Shamrock and against Douglass for attorney's fees and costs in the amount of \$97,263.13 and awarding post judgment interest because it erred in determining that Shamrock was the prevailing party.

# Legal Issues Pertaining to the Assignments of Error

- 1. Did Douglass's efforts in investigating and cleaning up his property qualify as a remedial action? (Errors #1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7)
- 2. Was the trial court's finding that the contamination on Douglass's Property did not constitute a potential threat to human health or the environment supported by substantial evidence? (Error #2)
- 3. Did Tetra Tech's investigation and subsequent monitoring of Douglass's Property constitute a "remedial action" whether or not the level of contamination constituted a potential threat to the environment? (Errors #3, 7)
- 4. Did the trial court err in awarding attorney fees and costs to Defendant and denying attorney fees and costs to Plaintiffs? (Error # 8)
- 5. Are Plaintiffs entitled to attorney's fees, both on appeal and in the trial court, if they prevail on this appeal? (Error # 8)

## III.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Douglass, a longtime Spokane real estate investor and developer, owns a parcel of undeveloped land at 4800 West Nine Mile Road in

Spokane County. (FF #1; CP 729)<sup>5</sup>. The property consists of approximately 4.3 acres. (RT 242; 15-17), (Pl Ex 11)<sup>6</sup>. The trial court found that The Property was residential. (CP 732). Between June 1, 2013 and August 28, 2013, Shamrock, a paving contractor, used Douglass's Property as a staging area for approximately sixteen pieces of heavy equipment. (FF #5; CP 729). Shamrock's use of Douglass's Property constituted a trespass. (CP 732).

Upon discovering Shamrock's trespass, Douglass ordered Shamrock off The Property. (FF # 9; CP 729). Douglass then hired Tetra Tech, an environmental consultant, to investigate for hazardous substances on The Property. (FF #11; CP 730).

In Tetra Tech's initial investigation conducted on November 14, 2013 one sample was collected from surface soils from a 0 to 4 inch depth. Testing was performed by Jon Welge, an environmental scientist. Testing revealed a concentration of lube oil in the soil of 2,000 mg/kg. (FF #12; CP 730). In selecting that particular test location from a 4.3 acre site from which to take the sample small enough to fit into an 8-oz jar, Welge took a sample that "was representative of the area". In other words, "he wasn't

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> FF stands for Finding of Fact; CP stands for clerk's papers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See P 11-1 "site location and description"

looking for the worst sample" he could have collected. (RT 273; 25- 274; 7).

Further investigation was conducted on January 24, 2014 when Welge took two additional samples. Testing of one of the samples revealed diesel at 600 mg/kg and lube oil at 800 mg/kg and the other revealed lube oil at 400 mg/kg. (Pl Ex 13)<sup>7</sup> (FF # 13; CP 730). Tetra Tech was paid \$950.00 for its investigative work. (RT 205: 5- 206; 1). Douglass chose to remediate the contamination by removing and disposing of 68 tons of soil. (FF #14; CP 730). Tetra Teck was paid an additional \$12,236.99 for excavating and hauling off the contaminated soil. (RT 215).

In early April of 2014, Tetra Tech provided monitoring of Douglass's Property by retesting to determine the effect of the removal of the contaminated soil. (PI Ex 16-1). In its April 22, 2014 confirmatory report, Tetra Tech certified that the concentration of lube oil in the soil had been reduced from 2,000 mg/kg to 220 mg/kg. (PI Ex 16-4). At 220 mg/kg Douglass's efforts to clean up his property was considered by Mr. Phil Leinart of the Department of Ecology as "successful". (RT 620; 15-20).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See P 13-1 "summary". Note that in this report Tetra Tech mistakenly inverted the diesel and lube oil findings from the Nov 14 test. This was explained by Jon Welge at RT 284; 3-284-8.

Douglass filed suit against Shamrock on September 23, 2013 asserting a single cause of action for trespass. (CP 3-6). On January 24, 2014, Douglass filed a First Amended Complaint adding causes of action for nuisance and violation of the MTCA. (CP 11-14).

Between January 5 and January 8, 2015, Douglass's trespass and nuisance causes of action were tried to a Spokane jury which returned a verdict in his favor on both causes of action, awarding him \$17,300 for Shamrock's unauthorized use of The Property. This appeal does not involve the jury trial or the trespass and nuisance claims.

The third cause of action, simultaneously tried to the court, sought investigative and cleanup costs under RCW 70.105D.080 of the MTCA. Errors related to the trial court's findings and conclusions on the MTCA cause of action are raised on this appeal.

Douglass filed his written closing argument on February 4, 2015. (CP 49-111). Shamrock filed its closing argument on February 13, 2015. (CP 350-383). Douglass then filed his reply on February 20, 2015. (CP 441-473).

On March 3, 2015, the trial court issued its Decision which included findings of fact and conclusions of law. (CP 474-480). The Trial Court concluded that Shamrock contributed to the release of hazardous substances on Douglass' Property and was therefore liable under the

Model Toxics Control Act. (CP 732, 733). On March 17, 2015, Douglass filed objections to the findings and conclusions and submitted proposed additional findings and conclusions. (CP 621-639). The next day, Douglass filed supplemental objections to the conclusions of law. (CP 706-709).

On March 27, 2015, the trial court issued its final findings and conclusions which addressed some, but not all, of Douglass's objections and proposals. (CP 728-735)<sup>8</sup>. The trial court found;

Shamrock trespassed on Douglass's Property. (CP 732).

FF #6--During its trespass, Shamrock's equipment was frequently fueled and the hoppers of the asphalt machines were cleaned by spraying them with diesel. (CP 729).

FF #08--Shamrock released gasoline, lube oil, and diesel onto Douglass's Property. (CP 729).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The findings, added after Douglass's objections and proposals include;

<sup>--</sup>FF 7 was changed to include the fact that the asphalt products which Shamrock stored on Douglass's Property contained petroleum.

<sup>--</sup>FF 8 was added. It states that Defendant contributed unknown amounts of gasoline, lube oil, and diesel oil on the subject property during the period of time the equipment was stationed on the subject property.

<sup>--</sup>FF 14; The following words were added; "The Plaintiff's cleanup was the substantial equivalent of a Department of Ecology supervised cleanup".

<sup>--</sup>CL at CP 478, in its original March 3 decision, the court stated that "Shamrock contributed to the release of hazardous substances, although in negligible amounts". In its final findings and conclusions, at CP 733, the court changed "negligible amounts" to "unknown amounts".

FF #07--Shamrock stored piles of asphalt grindings, cold mix, and paper joints on Douglass's Property, all of which contained petroleum. (CP 729).

FF #14--Douglass's cleanup was the substantial equivalent of a Department of Ecology supervised cleanup. (CP 730).

The trial court issued the following additional conclusions; Gasoline, diesel, lube oil, and petroleum products are hazardous substances. (CP 731). Shamrock contributed to the release of hazardous substances on Douglass's Property. (CP 732-733). Shamrock was "liable under the Model Toxic Control Act". (CP 732-733).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the trial court ultimately denied any relief to Douglass, finding that the pre-cleanup testing levels of lube oil did not constitute a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. (FF #16; CP 730). Relying on WAC 173-340-900 and Table 740-19 promulgated thereunder, the trial court noted that the MTCA only requires reporting of lube oil concentrations which exceed 2,000 mg/kg and that since the lube oil on Douglass's Property reached, but did not exceed 2,000 mg/kg, reporting to DOE was not required. The court concluded that since reporting was not required, contamination at 2,000 mg/kg did not constitute a potential threat to human health or the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Table 740-1 is attached as Appendix Exhibit 7

environment and on that basis Douglass was precluded from prevailing on his MTCA claim. (CP 733, 734).

#### IV.

## SUMMARY OF DOUGLASS'S ARGUMENT

The Model Toxics Control Act is found at RCW 70.105D. It governs liability for damages resulting from the release of hazardous substances. Implementing regulations are found in Chapter 173-340 of the Washington Administrative Code, ("WAC"). Douglass's appeal is based upon RCW 70.105D.020, 70.105D.040 and 70.105D.080 as well as WAC 173-340-200<sup>11</sup> (definitions), WAC 173-340-740<sup>12</sup>, and WAC 173-340-900 which provides Table 740-1.

RCW 70.105D.080 provides a private right of action for the recovery of remedial action costs against any liable person or party. 70.105D.040 provides the criteria for determining liability. RCW 70.105D.020 provides the definitions necessary to an understanding of .040 and .080. Ultimately, because the trial court resolved all other issues in Douglass's favor, this appeal can be decided based on 70.105D.020(33), the definition of a "remedial action" reprinted below;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> WAC 173-340-200 is attached as Appendix Exhibit 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> WAC 173-340-740 is attached as Appendix Exhibit 6

any action or expenditure consistent with the purposes of this chapter to identify, eliminate, or minimize any threat or potential threat posed by hazardous substances to human health or the environment including any investigative and monitoring activities with respect to any release or threatened release of a hazardous substance and any health assessments or health affects studies conducted in order to determine the risk or potential risk to human health.

Douglass's appeal is based on the following two principal contentions;

- 1. The trial court erred in determining that as a matter of law a petroleum release measured exactly at the 2,000 mg/kg guideline threshold did not constitute at <u>least a potential threat</u> to the environment. <sup>12</sup>
- 2. The trial court seemingly failed to recognize that even if, arguendo, cleaning up contamination at, but not exceeding, 2,000 mg/kg, did not qualify as a "remedial action", the initial investigation alone fell within the definition of "remedial action" because the definition allows for investigation of the release of <u>any hazardous substance</u> whether or not it was later determined to constitute a potential threat to human health or the

A finding that concentrations reaching the 2,000 mg/kg threshold constituted *at least* a potential threat to the environment would have resulted in a judgment in favor of Douglass and an award of both his investigative and his cleanup costs. More importantly, Douglass, the aggrieved innocent party would have been awarded the attorney's fees that Shamrock, the trespasser who contaminated Douglass' Property was awarded.

environment. Accordingly, Douglass should have been, at the least, awarded his investigative costs of \$950.

#### V.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### LEGAL ISSUE NUMBER 1

# Did Douglass's efforts in investigating and cleaning up his property qualify as a "remedial action"?

In this section, after noting the proper standard of review, Douglass explains why the trial court erred in concluding that his efforts in remediating the lube oil contamination did not constitute a "remedial action". The trial court found in favor of Douglass on all of the preliminary issues, including that Shamrock was liable under the MTCA. Douglass argues that a 2,000 mg/kg concentration of lube oil constitutes at least a potential threat to the environment and, even if it didn't, his efforts at investigating the release of a hazardous substance itself satisfied the definition of "remedial action".

#### 1. Standard of Review

The standard of review on this first issue is de novo because it requires this reviewing Court to interpret a statute. Interpretation of a statute is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *Okeson v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn.2d 540, 548-49, 78 P.3d 1278 (2003). *Port of Seattle v.* 

Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 151 Wash.2d 568, 593, 90 P.3d 659 (2004).

Further, the trial court concluded as a matter of law that Douglass's efforts fell short of the statutory definition of a "remedial action". (CP 733). Conclusions of law are also reviewed de novo. *Hegwine. v. Longview Fibre Co., Inc.*, 132 Wn.App. 546, 555, 132 P.3d 789 (2006). They are reviewed to determine whether findings are adequately supported by substantial evidence, and if so, whether those findings support the conclusions of law.

## 2. The trial court found that Shamrock was liable under the MTCA

Douglass prosecuted his MTCA claim against Shamrock under RCW 70.105D.080 which provides a private right of action for the recovery of "remedial action" costs against any "liable person". The trial court found that Shamrock was a liable person but that Douglass's efforts fell short of a "remedial action". (FF # 1, 5, 8, 11, 12, 13 and14; CP 729, 730). The trial court partially determined that Douglass's efforts fell short of a remedial action on the erroneous finding that the level of contamination did not constitute a potential threat to the environment. (FF # 16, CP 730). <sup>14</sup> Douglass contends that 2,000 mg/kg constitutes at least

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The other reason the trial court failed to find that Douglass' effort constituted a remedial action was its failure to consider that Douglass's investigation and monitoring alone satisfied the definition of remedial action

the "potential threat". Douglass's contention was supported by two experts, one of which has been making such determinations for the Department of Ecology for over 25 years.

Regardless, even if the trial court is upheld on the issue of whether 2,000 mg/kg of lube oil constitutes at least a potential threat, Douglass's investigative efforts alone constituted a remedial action because the second part of the definition of remedial action provides;

including any investigative and monitoring activities with respect to *any* release or threatened release of a *hazardous substance* (emphasis added).

RCW 70.105D.020(33).

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