FEB 29 2016

DELAY, CURRAN, THOMPSON, PONTAROLO & WALKER, P.S.

FEB 2.9 2016

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 33615-8-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HARLAN D. DOUGLASS and MAXINE H. DOUGLASS

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

V.

SHAMROCK PAVING, INC., a WASHINGTON CORPORATION

Defendant-Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James A. McPhee, WSBA No. 26323 Workland & Witherspoon, PLLC 601 West Main, Suite 714 Spokane, WA 99201 Telephone: (509) 455-9077

Fax: (509) 624-6441 jmcphee@workwith.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review

Where the trial court has weighed the evidence, the reviewing court's role is simply to determine whether substantial evidence supports the finding of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the trial court's conclusions of law. *Imrie v. Kelley*, 160 Wn.App. 1, 6, 250 P.3d 1045 (2010) and *Greene v. Greene*, 97 Wn.App. 708, 714, 986 P.2d 144 (1999) citing *Organization to Preserve Agric. Lands (OPAL) v. Adams County*, 128 Wn.2d 869, 882, 913 P.2d 793 (1996). Substantial evidence exists where there is a sufficient quantity of evidence to persuade a fair-minded rational person that a finding is true. *Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co, Inc.* 132 Wn.App 546, 555-556, 132 P.3d 789 (2006) citing *In re Estate of*

Jones, 152 Wn.2d 1, 8, 93 P.3d 147 (2004). See also Sunnyside Valley Irr. Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). Findings of fact that are not challenged will not be disturbed on appeal and are considered the facts of the case. Davis v. Department of Labor and Industries, 94 Wn.2d 119, 123, 615 P.2d 1279 (1980). Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. Hegwine at 556. On review, the appellate court will not substitute its judgment for the trial court even if the appellate court may have resolved a factual dispute differently, will not weigh the evidence, and will not judge the credibility of witnesses. Greene at 714, Sunny Side Valley Irr. Dist., 149 Wn.2d at 879-880. Finally, on appeal the court must view all evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party and defer to the trial court regarding credibility of witnesses or conflicting testimony. Weyerhaeuser v. Tacoma-Pierce County Health Dep't, 123 Wn.App. 59, 65, 96 P.3d 460 (2004).

Douglass incorrectly contends that this Court has to interpret the meaning of a statute and, as such, at least a portion of the review here is *de novo*. However, the cases Douglass cites for that proposition are distinguishable from this case. The first case cited by Douglass, *Okeson v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn.2d 540, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003), dealt with the specific question of whether an ordinance or RCW 35.92.050 authorized a

municipality to incorporate expenses of city street lights within electrical rates charged to city utility customers. Okeson, 150 Wn.2d at 548. Because the case dealt with appeal of a summary judgment order, constitutional limitations, and statutory authority, the standard of review was de novo. Id. at 548-549. Here, there was no summary judgment order, this case does not implicate constitutional issues, and no issues involve statutory authority. The second case cited by Douglass, *Port of Seattle v.* Pollution Control Hearings Board, 151 Wn.2d 568, 90 P.3d 659 (2004) also does not apply. That case simply holds that the court interprets the meaning of a statute *de novo*, and may substitute the court's interpretation of the law for that of an agency. *Id.* at 593. In this case, the issue presented to the trial court was whether Douglass presented sufficient evidence to prove each element of a private right of action under MTCA. The trial court heard the evidence and testimony of multiple witnesses over a four day bench trial, agreed with a state agency (DOE) rather than substituting its own interpretation of a statute, and concluded that Douglass did not meet their burden to prevail in a private right of action under MTCA. (CP 733). As shown below, the trial court's findings of fact were supported by substantial evidence at trial, its conclusions of law were supported by the trial court's findings, and its decision should be affirmed on appeal.

B. A MTCA Private Right Of Action

Douglass did not fully articulate the requirements of a private right of action under MTCA. As such, Shamrock provides the following summary of the necessary elements required to prevail in a private right of action under MTCA.

Pursuant to RCW 70.105D.080, a person may bring a private right of action against any person liable under RCW 70.105D.040 for the recovery of remedial action costs because of a "release" or "threatened release" of a hazardous substance RCW 70.105D.040(2). A "release" is defined as any intentional or unintentional entry of any "hazardous substance" into the environment. RCW 70.105D.020(32). To prove a private right of action under MTCA, Douglass had the burden to show that there was an actual "release" of a "hazardous substance" on the property. RCW 70.105D.080, RCW 70.105D.040(2).

The party asserting a private right of action bears the burden of establishing both a claim under the statute and its entitlement to remedial action costs. *City of Seattle (Seattle City Light) v. Wash. State Dep't of Transp.*, 98 Wn.App. 165, 175, 989 P.2d 1164 (1999). "Remedial action" is defined as any action or expenditure "...to identify, eliminate, or

³ The definition of "remedial action" at RCW 70.105D.020(33) does not supply plaintiffs with a separate cause of action in and of itself despite Douglass' urgings.

minimize any threat or potential threat posed by hazardous substances to human health or the environment..." RCW 70.105D.020(33). Under the statute, recovery of remedial action costs is limited to those remedial actions that, when evaluated as a whole, are the substantial equivalent of a DOE conducted or DOE supervised remedial action. RCW 70.105D.080.

Even if a hazardous substance is released and the entity is a liable party under RCW 70.105D.040, a plaintiff seeking contribution under RCW 70.105D.080 must still demonstrate that the defendant's hazardous substance contributed to a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. *City of Seattle*, 98 Wn.App. at 176⁴; *Taliesen Corp. v. Razore Land Co.* 135 Wn.App. 106, 118, 144 P.3d 1185 (2006); and *Pacific Sound Recourses v. Burlington Northern Santa Fe Ry. Corp.*, 130 Wn.App. 926, 936, 125 P.3d 981 (2005). If the plaintiff fails to show that the hazardous substance was a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment, it is not a remedial action cost as defined in RCW 70.105D.020 and the defendant is not responsible for any portion of the cleanup costs. *City of Seattle* at 177. ("Accordingly, we conclude that

⁴ See also *City of Seattle v. Washington State Department of Transportation*, 107 Wn.App. 236, 240, 26 P.3d 1000 (2001). (The Plaintiff must further prove that they identified, eliminated, or minimized any threat or potential threat posed by the hazardous substances to human health or the environment within the meaning of RCW 70.105D.020. When they failed to so prove, WSDOT prevailed on their claim, and WSDOT became entitled to reasonable attorney fees under RCW 70.105D.080.)

WSDOT is not responsible for any portion of the cleanup costs associated with disposing of the PCB-contaminated asphalt at the site, because the asphalt did not pose a threat to human health or the environment. Therefore, it was not a remedial action cost under RCW 70.105D.020(21).").⁵

MTCA further requires an additional layer of analysis by the trial court in a private right of action claim. Even if a plaintiff proves that there was a release of a hazardous substance, that the release was a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment, that the defendant is a liable person or entity under RCW 70.105D.040, and that the response actions were a substantial equivalent to a DOE action, the trial court can still nonetheless refuse to award recovery of remedial action costs based on its review of equitable factors that it deems appropriate in each case. RCW 70.105D.080, *Taliesen Corp.*, 135 Wn.App. at 118-20; *Dash Point Vill. Assocs. v. Exxon Corp.*, 86 Wn.App. 596, 603, 937 P.2d 1148 (1997). In any given case, a court may consider several factors, a few factors, or only one determining factor depending on the totality of the circumstances presented. *PacifiCorp Environmental Remediation Co. v. Washington State Dep. of Transp.*, 162 Wn.App. 627, 665-666. 259 P.3d 1115 (2011)

⁵ The identical definition of "remedial action" cited in *City of Seattle* at RCW 70.105D.020(21) is now located at RCW 70.105D.020(33).

(citing Envtl. Transp. Sys., Inc. v. ENSCO, Inc., 969 F.2d 503 (7th Cir. 1992)); Taliesen Corp., 135 Wn.App. at 139-40. As such, a trial court is free to apply any equitable factor(s) it deems appropriate. A liable party "...may be required to pay complete response costs, or may not be required to pay any response costs, or may be required to pay some intermediate amount depending on the Court's equitable assessments." City of Seattle, 98 Wn.App. at 175 quoting Akzo Coatings, Inc. v. Aigner Corp., 909 F.Supp. 154 (N.D.Ind. 1995). See also Taliesen Corp., 135 Wn.App. at 139-140. Equitable factors that have been considered by courts in MTCA cases include the cause of the contamination; the defendant's relationship to the contamination; the amount of hazardous waste involved; the degree of toxicity of the hazardous waste involved; the degree of involvement of the parties in the generation, transportation, treatment, storage or disposal of the hazardous waste; and the ability of the parties to demonstrate that their contribution to a discharge, release, or disposal of a hazardous waste can be distinguished. Dash Point Vill. Assocs., 86 Wn.App. at 607 n. 24 (citing Car Wash Enters., Inc. v. Kampanos, 74 Wn.App. 538, 549, 874 P.2d 868 (1994) and City of Seattle, 98 Wn.App. at 175 n. 8).

The trial court concluded that Shamrock's operations may not have been the sole contributor of lube oil, diesel, or gasoline, but rather that Shamrock contributed unknown amounts of lube oil, diesel, and gasoline and was an entity liable under RCW 70.105D.040 – like the defendant WSDOT in *City of Seattle*. (CP 729, FF No. 8, CP 732-733).

However, based on the substantial evidence presented at trial, the trial court correctly found that Shamrock prevailed and became entitled to reasonable attorney fees – like the defendant WSDOT in City of Seattle – because Douglass had not demonstrated that the levels of lube oil, diesel, and gasoline on the property constituted a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. As discussed more fully below, the trial court's finding of fact on this issue was supported by the testing and testimony of Douglass' own expert Mr. Welge, the testimony of Shamrock's expert Mr. Lambert, and the testimony of DOE hydro geologist Mr. Leinart. Based on its findings, the trial court ruled in favor of Shamrock and awarded it attorney fees and costs pursuant to MTCA. Since the trial court ruled in favor of Shamrock, it did not need to move to the next stage of the analysis to consider the equitable factors present in this particular case. (CP 365-377) This is important because Douglass now urges this Court to reverse the trial court's decision and simply declare

them as the prevailing party and award attorney fees. That would be procedurally incorrect. While the trial court's decision was based on substantial evidence presented at trial and should not be reversed, should this Court do so, the only relief available is to remand this matter to the trial court and afford it the opportunity to complete its analysis by considering the equitable factors presented at trial as it is charged to do under RCW 70.105D.080.

C. The Substantial Evidence Presented At Trial Including Expert Testimony And Test Results Demonstrated That There Was No Threat Or Potential Threat To Human Health Or The Environment.

As discussed above, in order to prevail Douglas was required to prove that the lube oil, diesel, and gasoline on their property constituted a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. As shown below, they failed to do so.

1. The reports and testimony of Douglass' own expert Jon Welge showed that there was no threat or potential threat to human health or the environment.

Douglass' expert Jon Welge tested the property for diesel, gasoline, and lube oil on November 14, 2013 and again on January 24, 2014 before soil was removed. (Plaintiff's Ex. No. 16-2 and 16-3).

<u>Diesel and Gasoline</u>. Mr. Welge testified that his test samples for diesel and gasoline were not contaminated because all were well within

allowable limits and three were even at levels that he considered "non-detectable." (Plaintiff's Ex. No. 16-2 and 16-3; VRP 314, l. 6-23). Each gasoline test result was "non-detectable" and his test results for diesel were 97.5%, 95%, and 70% *cleaner* than the highest allowable level in the state of Washington. (VRP 326, ll. 2-9; 327, ll. 10-14) Mr. Welge testified that the DOE would not require clean up of the vacant lot based on these results. (VRP 329-330, ll. 24-5; VRP 331, ll. 12-17).

Lube Oil. Mr. Welge conducted three separate tests for lube oil. (Plaintiff's Ex. No. 16-2 and 16-3). Two test results showed levels well within allowable limits and Mr. Welge acknowledged they were 80% and 60% cleaner than the highest allowable level in the state of Washington. (VRP 327, Il. 10-14). The third test result showed lube oil at an allowable 2,000 mg/kg, a level which is described by the Washington Administrative Code as "the reasonable maximum exposure expected to occur under both current and future site use conditions." WAC 173-340-730(1)(a); WAC 173-340-900 (Table 740-1); (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 16-2 and 16-3). After stating that he sometimes likes to perform more testing to prove that one result wasn't an anomaly, Mr. Welge monumentally conceded that the

⁶ Douglass conceded this point in their opening brief by admitting, "[O]ne is required to reduce the concentration to at least 2,000 mg/kg." (Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 20)

single test result of 2,000 mg/kg of lube oil <u>could actually have been an</u> anomaly. (VRP 349-350, ll. 18-7).

It is this third lube oil test result on which Douglass bases their entire appeal, despite the fact that their own expert confirmed that they weren't required to report it or clean it up.

Regarding reporting requirements, Douglass represented to this Court in their opening brief that Mr. Welge "testified that lube oil in soil testing at 2,000 mg/kg is required to be reported to the DOE within 90 days." (Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 22). However, Douglass failed to disclose that when immediately pressed on whether reporting at 2,000 mg/kg of lube oil is actually required, Mr. Welge corrected his answer to "Maybe" just five questions later. (VRP 317-318, II. 23-1). Even more compelling than his testimony were his actions toward his clients: Mr. Welge *never* advised Douglass that they were required to report the test results of 2,000 mg/kg of lube oil to the DOE. (VRP 372, II. 9-17).

Regarding cleanup requirements, when asked whether the DOE would require soil at 2,000 mg/kg of lube oil be cleaned up, Mr. Welge admitted, "I don't know." (VRP 318, Il. 6-17). He did, however, acknowledge that *all* his lube oil test results complied with Washington State clean up levels, acknowledged that he consistently offered Douglass

the option of doing nothing with the soil, and confirmed that Douglass could have chosen that option and done nothing to the soil on their vacant lot. (VRP 319, ll. 13-17; 329, ll. 10-12).

As to the amount of hazardous substance involved, liability will not be imposed where a release was de minimis. *City of Seattle*, 98 Wn.App. at 177-78 (citing with approval *Acushnet Co. v. Mohasco Corp.*, 191 F.3d 69, 79 (1st Cir. 1999)). Similarly, if it is demonstrated that the hazardous substance deposited at a site constitutes no more than background amounts of such substances in the environment and cannot concentrate with other waste to produce higher amounts, remedial action costs will not be awarded. *Id.* at 178.

Given that Douglass' own expert conceded that <u>all</u> test result levels complied with Washington state cleanup levels, never advised Douglass that they were required to report <u>any</u> test results to the DOE, and repeatedly offered the option of "doing nothing" with their property after testing, it is clear that there was no threat or potential threat to human health or the environment.

2. Shamrock's expert Jeff Lambert testified that there was no threat or potential threat to human health or the environment.

Shamrock's expert witness Jeff Lambert is an environmental scientist and licensed professional engineer who started his environmental consulting company in 1988. (VRP 636-637, Il. 25-17). He has more than 30 years experience in environmental science and engineering, provides advice primarily to commercial property owners on what their environmental liabilities might be, and if identified, helps them correct those situations. (VRP 637-638, Il. 22-8). He has written approximately 2,000 environmental site assessments, or ESAs, most of which dealt with properties located in Spokane County, Washington. (VRP 638, Il. 9-24)).

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